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COMPLAINT FOR
DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

INTRODUCTION
1. Plaintiff the State of Oklahoma (the “State”), dPldintiff the Domestic Energy

Producers Alliance (“DEPA”) bring this action agst the Fish & Wildlife Service (“FWS”)
seeking declaratory and injunctive relief for viadas of the Endangered Species Act (‘ESA”),
the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), and thaitéd States Constitution. Plaintiffs have
also submitted a Notice of Intent to Sue, purstai6 U.S.C. § 1540(g), to FWS for violations
of the ESA. In the instant suit, Plaintiffs seekef from FWS'’s violations under the APA for
FWS’s actions that are contrary to the ESA andAR4, and for FWS'’s violation of the
Constitution.

2. This action seeks to address an agency’s effod#i¢oits legal obligations in the
absence of Congressional action or a public rulémgakBy entering into private settlements
with special interest litigants, FWS has attemptedircumvent the legislative and regulatory
process and make fundamental changes to its ESAseapobligations. Having been deprived
of an opportunity to participate in shaping thestahtive policy choices embedded in FWS’s
settlements, the State and DEPA members sufferyifjom FWS’s implementation of the
settlements’ provisions in Oklahoma.

3. Under the ESA, if a species “may” be warrantediging as endangered or
threatened, FWS has the duty to consider clasgifyuth a species as (i) not warranted, (ii)
warranted, or (iii) warranted but “precluded” by B obligation of its limited resources to
higher priorities.See 16 U.S.C. 8§ 1533(b)(3)(B). A species receiving‘tharranted but

precluded” classification is designated as a “cdaid species.”
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4, The ESA and its regulations mandate for each dfetltandidate species that,
once each year, FWS must consider the same tisteglalternatives: (i) listing as endangered
or threatened is “not warranted,” (ii) listing iwanted and a listing rule is proposed, or (iii)
listing is warranted but precluded because theispext issue has a lower priority as compared to
other speciesSee 16 U.S.C. 88 1533(b)(3)(B), (b)(3)(C)(i).

5. The ESA also requires that FWS'’s listing decisibagrounded on the “best
scientific and commercial data available,” on statd private “conservation measures,” and on
science-driven prioritization of the candidate spec 16 U.S.C. 88 1533(b)(1), (h).

6. FWS has chosen to eliminate one of these thregtstgatoptions. Specifically,
for all the 2010 candidate species, FWS eliminatedntinued designation of “warranted but
precluded.” Rather than pursuing this changeutfindegislation or rulemaking, FWS chose the
expedient of “friendly” settlements of a seriedasuits brought by like-minded, special
interest litigants.

7. FWS’s agreement to forego consideration of contigu species’ classification
as “warranted but precluded by higher prioritieg8yents voluntary measures from achieving
the conservation goals that would remove the nedidtta species. Instead, by committing in
the settlements to complete listing decisions fordreds of species within the span of only a
few years, FWS bound itself to make a substantagsibn — probably to list the already
“warranted” species — before voluntary efforts hagen given a chance to remove the threats
posed to candidate species.

8. The unlawful and harmful effects of FWS'’s settlemseare particularly
pronounced for species in Oklahoma classified adidate species, including the Lesser Prairie-

Chicken 'ympanuchus pallidicinctus), the Sprague’s Pipidthus spragueii), the Rabbitsfoot
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Mussel Quadrula cylindrica), and the Arkansas Dartdftheostoma cragini) (collectively, the
“Oklahoma Candidate Species”). Despite consernatftorts undertaken by the State of
Oklahoma, other states, DEPA member companies twed imdustry participants, FWS purports
to be compelled by its settlements to make preraatacisions in violation of its obligation to
rely upon best scientific and commercial data add as to whether these species should be
listed under the ESA as threatened or endang€FadI'S recently listed the Rabbitsfoot Mussel
as “threatened” and has committed to making anfistiecision for the Lesser Prairie-Chicken on
March 31, 2014.) If these candidate species wasessed pursuant to provisions of the ESA,
FWS'’s implementing regulations, and three decadlesaatice, then-current science and
ongoing conservation efforts (including approvecdd@idate Conservation Agreements with
Assurances (“CCAAs”)) might well yield a decisiandontinue to classify these species as
candidate species.

9. The premature listing of these species has injarebwill continue to injure
Plaintiffs. Among other injuries, once these speare listed under the ESA, companies that are
DEPA members incur expense to comply with a rutmapanying the listing, to avoid a “take”
in violation of the ESA, and/or to obtain inciddrike permits under the ESAee 16 U.S.C.

88 1538(a), 1539(a). DEPA members would also lpesed to potential criminal violations
under the ESA and its implementing regulatiofee 16 U.S.C. § 1540(b). Finally, DEPA
members are denied the benefit of the voluntargeomation measures they have undertaken for
some of these species in order to preclude thek IE8Ng.

10. In addition, listing any of the Oklahoma Candid&feecies will increase the
regulatory burden on the State of Oklahoma andnaittow the State’s flexibility with regard to

regulating habitat within its jurisdiction. The IRtatsfoot Mussel’s premature listing as
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“threatened” has already made it more cumbersominéoState to transplant the species among
watersheds to help conserve this mussel. Foré¢isedr Prairie-Chicken, the State is among five
states that have jointly developed the LesseriBr@inicken Range-Wide Conservation Plan
(“Range-Wide Plan”), a voluntary conservation pesgrformally endorsed by FV§$hat is
unprecedented in the scope of protection it affbhesspecies and the degree of multi-
disciplinary collaboration that underpins the paorgr

11. The State and DEPA members expended significaatiress and effort in their
participation in the Range-Wide Oil & Gas CCAA (“@G&CCAA”") for the Lesser Prairie-
Chicken, a CCAA tiered to the Range-Wide Plan FA&IS approved on February 28, 2014.
FWS'’s approval of the Range-Wide Plan and, mogntg, the O&G CCAA, may create the
illusion that FWS is giving these conservation nuees a chance to work so as to obviate the
need for listing the Lesser Prairie Chicken. BW$ approvals have no practical
significance. FWS remains committed to an arbyteard aggressive listing decision deadline of
March 31, 2014 and it is unrealistic to think teabstantial commitments of acreage and capital
can be made by oil and gas companies and othdareabgate. Further, by allowing artificial
deadlines to diminish the impact of the Range-WRtin and O&G CCAA, FWS undermines

support for similar state-led, voluntary consematprograms for other species.

1 | ESSERPRAIRIE-CHICKEN INTERSTATEWORKING GROUP, THE LESSERPRAIRIE-CHICKEN
RANGE-WIDE CONSERVATIONPLAN (William E. Van Pelt ed., Oct. 2013),
http://www.wafwa.org/documents/2013LPCRWPfinalfandld 12092013.pdf (last visited Mar.
17, 2014).

2 Press Release, U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, FiSh and Wildlife Service Endorses
Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agenciessker Prairie-Chicken Range-Wide
Conservation Plan (Oct. 23, 2013), http://www.fves/mpews/ShowNews.cfm?ID=E6267BFC-
E38A-E402-8295AE3A5FD77DF1 (last visited Mar. 1012).
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12. Defendants’ actions are unlawful under the ESAARA, and are actionable
under the APA. First, Defendants have omittedstagéutory alternative of retaining these
species within the candidate species classificaiiosuant to science-driven priorities. Second,
Defendants have violated their statutory obligatmmake ESA listing decisions “solely on the
basis of the best scientific and commercial datalable . . . after conducting a review of the
status of the species and after taking into accthase efforts, if any, being made by any
State . . . to protect such species [includingjseowmation practices, within any area under its
jurisdiction . . ..” 16 U.S.C. 8§ 1533(b)(1)(A).hiFd, Defendants have violated their obligation to
ensure well-documented, science-driven listingsiens by their failure to adhere to guidelines
that establish a priority system for removing spedrom the candidate species classification.
Fourth, Defendants have adopted substantive, laruiticies that conflict with FWS
regulations in derogation of the APA and otherma&ing procedures.

13. Defendants’ actions also violate the United St&tesstitution. Defendants have
violated the due process clause of the Fifth Amesrdrto the Constitution, as applied to the
Oklahoma Candidate Species, in adopting, via segttés without public participation, a
substantive, binding rule that eliminates statutomgl regulatory rights otherwise available to the
Plaintiffs. By entering into the settlements, Defants have also abdicated the executive
branch’s duty under Article 1l of the Constitutidransferring ESA-related decision-making
authority to special interest litigants, therebypp®wering them to supplant the executive

branch’s implementation of critical provisions betESA.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

14.  Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant tol28.C. § 1331 (Federal question

jurisdiction) and the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 702 (judicialriew of final agency action). This Court
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can grant declaratory and injunctive relief und@tR2S.C. § 2201 (declaratory judgment), 28
U.S.C. § 2202 (injunctive relief), and 5 U.S.C.&8L-706, for violations ointer alia, the APA,
5U.S.C. §706

15.  Venue is proper in the U.S. District Court for terthern District of Oklahoma
under 28 U.S.C. 88 1391(c)(2) and (e) in thatbgfendant(s) reside in the Northern District of
Oklahoma, maintaining an office at 9014 East 8freet, Tulsa, OK 74129, from which FWS
implements FWS policies within the State of Oklalagif) a substantial part of the events and
omissions giving rise to these claims occurredvenNorthern District of Oklahoma, and future
regulatory impacts of FWS’s listing decisions viaél felt within this district in that, according to
FWS, habitat for the Rabbitsfoot Mussel, the ArkemnBarter, and the Sprague’s Pipit is located
within the Northern District of Oklahoma; (iii) Riiff State of Oklahoma resides, for venue
purposes, in all Districts within Oklahoma and thesides in the Northern District of Oklahoma;
and (iv) DEPA and many of DEPA’s member companiesiain their respective principal

places of business in Oklahoma and conduct buswmisis the Northern District of Oklahoma.

THE PARTIES
16. Plaintiff STATE OF OKLAHOMA has allocated signifinaresources to the

preservation of candidate species and ESA-listedisp within its borders. The State enforces
its own endangered species statute and regulaghements programs, such as the Lesser
Prairie-Chicken Habitat Conservation Program amedwhldlife Habitat Improvement Program
to aid in maintenance of habitat that preserves species. Including its financial and human
capital investments in development of the Range@/Mthn and the O&G CCAA, the State has
expended more than $26 million in preservationré&sftor the Lesser Prairie-Chicken alone.

When candidate species within Oklahoma are movdetthreatened species list, the State
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incurs significant regulatory expenses in additmexpenses incurred to avoid a “take” of the
species. In addition, the State will incur costgemforce regulatory limitations designed to avoid
“taking” aquatic species such as the Rabbitsfoosdéliand the Arkansas Darter. Perhaps most
importantly, the State will lose flexibility in thenge of measures Oklahoma may undertake to
preserve species without the cumbersome restreetba listing under the ESA.

17. Plaintiff DOMESTIC ENERGY PRODUCERS ALLIANCE is anigue
organization with a grassroots approach to domesstiore energy advocacy and education.
DEPA is an alliance of producers, royalty owners] ailfield service companies as well as state
and national independent oil and gas associatepresenting the small businessmen and
women of the energy industry and devoted to bothigal of domestic crude oil and natural gas
exploration and production and American energy sgcuMembers of DEPA reside in the
Northern District of Oklahoma. DEPA members condukand gas operations in Oklahoma and
elsewhere that will be adversely affected if spgaiee moved from the candidate species
classification to the ESA’s endangered or threatdise DEPA and its members have
participated, in concert with FWS, the State ofdkima, other states and other companies, in
the development of the Range-Wide Plan and the @&AA in order to implement
conservation measures sufficient to avoid FWStmiisthe Lesser Prairie-Chicken as threatened
or endangered. DEPA and its members expect teipate in comparable conservation efforts
for other candidate species, including the SpragB@iit, whose ranges include the State of
Oklahoma.

18. Defendant DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR (“Interior”$ ithe federal
agency charged with administration of much of tisAEncluding the listing procedures

contained in 16 U.S.C. § 1533.
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19. Defendant FISH & WILDLIFE SERVICE (“FWS” or “Seru) is a part of
Interior that has been delegated the responsibditgnplement much of the ESA, including
determining the species for which listing under #8A should be decided and which of these
species should be classified as candidate speaieggnt to 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B)(iii),
(C)().

20. Defendant SALLY JEWELL is the Secretary of Interiand is sued in her
official capacity. Secretary Jewell, in her capaeas Secretary of Interior, has ultimate
responsibility for Interior and FWS’s actions undlee ESA.

21. Defendant DANIEL M. ASHE is the Director of FWS aisdsued in his official
capacity. Director Ashe oversees FWS, the agehayged with implementing much of the
ESA.

22. Defendant GARY FRAZER is the Assistant Director Esrdangered Species at
FWS, and is sued in his official capacity. Assistairector Frazer oversees the listing function
of FWS under the ESA.

23. Defendant DIXIE PORTER is the Field Supervisortfug Oklahoma Ecological
Services Field Office of FWS and is sued in heicadf capacity. Ms. Porter has participated in
FWS'’s regulatory efforts for the Lesser Prairie-<¢kiein and other species. She supervises FWS
implementation of the ESA within the State of Oklata. (“FWS” refers to the Defendants

collectively unless otherwise specified.)

LEGAL FRAMEWORK

THE ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT

24.  Congress enacted the ESA to provide protectionsgecies that could be at risk

for declines in population and, potentially, fotiegtion. 16 U.S.C. § 1531(b). Section 4 of the
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ESA directs the Service to determine whether aispatiould be listed as “endangered” or
“threatened” based upon five factors. 16 U.S.C533(a)(1)seealso 50 C.F.R. 88 424.10,
424.11(c).

25.  The statute contains various mandates for protectidisted speciesSee 16
U.S.C. 88 1532(19), 1533(f), 1536(b)(3)(A), 153Bnce a species is listed as threatened or
endangered, the ESA imposes an express prohilaitidtaking” the species where taking means
“to harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound,tkaf, capture, or collect, or to attempt to
engage in such conduct.” 16 U.S.C. § 1532(19)dddirWS regulations “harm” can “include
significant habitat modification or degradation” evh “essential behavioral patterns, including
breeding, feeding, or sheltering” are significanthpaired. 40 C.F.R. § 1733.

26. Thus, for example, oil and gas operations can etlgg‘take” a listed species if
the operations merely modify or degrade the habittsted species or inadvertently harass a
single member of the species. The cost to thamallgas industry of avoiding a “take” of a listed
species can be enormous and, in some instanceprex@unde operations in their entirety.

THE ESA'SLISTING PROCEDURES

27.  Any “interested person” may petition the Servicdigba species as threatened or
endangeredSee 16 U.S.C. 8§ 1533(b)(3). “To the maximum extentcpcable,” FWS must then
determine within 90 days whether the petition pnesésubstantial scientific or commercial
information indicating that the petitioned actiomyrbe warranted.” 16 U.S.C. 8§ 1533(b)(3)(A).
If the 90-day finding concludes that the petitiaed not present substantial information
indicating that listing may be warranted, the tigtprocess is terminated for that petition. If the

Service makes a positive 90-day finding for a sggadt must determine, within twelve months,

% See also Babbitt v. Sweet Home Chapter of Cmtys. for a Gréat,515 U.S. 687
(1995).

10
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whether the petitioned action is (i) not warrani@jlwarranted and a listing is proposed, or (iii)
warranted but precluded by other prioritiéd. at 1533(b)(3)(B).
28. The statute mandates that the Servatgfl” make its listing determinations,

solely on the basis of théest scientific and commercial data

available. . . after conducting a review of the statushaf species

andafter taking into account those efforts, if any, being made by

any State. . . or any political subdivision of a State.. to protect

such species, whether by predator control, protection of habita

and food supply, or other conservation practicafhimw any area
under its jurisdiction.

16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(1)(A) (emphasis added).

29. If the Service’s 12-month finding concludes thatifig is “warranted” the ESA
provides the Service with two options: (i) issugreposed listing ruled. at 1533(b)(3)(B)(ii);
or (ii) determine, based upon science-driven pigation, that the listing is “warranted but
precluded.” 16 U.S.C. 88 1533(b)(3)(C)(iii), 15B%3).

30. A species that receives the “warranted but precludtatus is considered a
“candidate species” and, annually, the Service masslvaluate each of these candidate species
following the statutory criteria for a 12-monthding:

A petition with respect to which a [warranted bueguded]
finding is made . . shall be treated as a petition that is resubmitted
. under subparagraph (A) on the date of suatlirfg and that

presents substantial scientific or commercial imfation that the
petitioned action may be warranted.

16 U.S.C. 8 1533(b)(3)(C)(i). With each annualieavof a candidate species, FWS must repeat
the very same statutory process, and the statdetslithe Service to consider all three
alternatives anew.

31. FWS thus must consider whether:

The petitioned action is warranted, but that —

11
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() the immediate proposal and timely promulgatioha final
regulation implementing the petitioned action .is precluded by
pending proposals to determine whether any species is an
endangered species or a threatened species, and

(I1) expeditious progress is being made to addifiedlspecies to
either of the [ESA] lists . . . and to remove fraoch lists species
for which the protections of this chapter are nagler necessary . .

16 U.S.C. 8§ 1533(b)(3)(B)(iii) (emphasis addedyVFis required to consider whether it has
sufficient resources to meet its obligations fongliag candidate species. Once it knows the
agency does not have sufficient resources to peopgdss on listing and critical habitat, FWS is
required to make a reasoned decision as to whitiheodandidate species should be brought
forward to make a listing decision.

32. There is no deadline for proposing a rule to lestdidate species nor any limit to
the time a species can remain in “candidate” statn each annual review after a species is
designated as a candidate species, the Servickedyhy its evaluation of the five factors
specified in the statute and using the “best” davailable,” retains the statutory prerogative of
determining the species’ listing is warranted lneichuded by other priorities, and, consequently,
the species should remain a candidate speciesddoiowing year.See 16 U.S.C. 88
1533(b)(3)(C)(i), (b)(1). The Service must alsosider efforts to protect the species undertaken
by States.See 16 U.S.C. 8§ 1533(b)(1)FWS cannot eliminate, in its annual reconsideratiba
candidate species, the alternative of retaininggpacies within the candidate species
classification.

33.  The Service has promulgated regulations implemgritiase ESA listing

alternatives. Not surprisingly, FWS’s regulati@mistrue the statutory directive for annual

12
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review of candidate species as requiring FWS tsicken retaining the species within the
candidate species category:

(3) Upon making a positive finding under paragrép}{l) of this
section, the Secretary shall commence a reviewestatus of the
species concerned asdall make, within 12 months of receipt of
such petitionpne of the following findings:

(i) The petitioned action is not warranted, [ ],
(ii) The petitioned action is warranted, [ ] or
(iif) The petitioned action is warranted, but that

(A) The immediate proposal and timely promulgatioh a
regulation to implement the petitioned action isquded because
of other pending proposals to list, delist, or asslify species, and

(B) Expeditious progress is being made to lististlebr reclassify
qualified species, in which case, such finding Ishal promptly
published in the Federal Register together withescdption and
evaluation of the reasons and data on which tterfgnis based.

* * *

(4) If a finding is made under paragraph (b)(3)(@f this section
with regard to any petition, the Secretahall, within 12 months
of such finding,again make one of the findings described in
paragraph (b)(3) with regard to such petition, but no further
finding of substantial information will be required

50 C.F.R. § 424.14(b) (emphasis added).

34. Thus, the statute mandates that FWS choose aalbtigee alter natives each
year, based upon the information available at that tiffibe language of the statute does not
permit FWS to make a decision based upon specnlatido the future status of a candidate
species. Nor may FWS rely on old information tha$ not been updated in the current year.

Rather, FWS must reevaluate the candidate speumsmby and decide, based upon then

13
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available data and conservation practicet®y alia, whether the species should remain as a
candidate species.

35.  Throughout the 30-year history of this statutorgyision and its regulatory
counterpart, FWS has followed a practice of reatgréng each candidate species on an annual
basis, while retaining the statutory prerogativiedping each species as a “candidate species”
based upon its respective priority for listing.

CANDIDATE _SPECIES

36. FWS has described a “candidate species” as a spéaravhich we have on file
sufficient information on biological vulnerabilignd threats to support a proposal to list as
endangered or threatened but for which preparatnahpublication of a proposal is precluded by
higher priority listing actions.” 78 Fed. Reg. Y04 (Nov. 22, 2013). If a species is determined
to be “warranted” for listing but is “precluded pgnding proposals” for listing other species
under Section 4(b)(3)(C)(iii), the species becomésandidate species3ee 16 U.S.C. §
1533(b)(3)(C)(iii).

37. One reason FWS classifies species as candidatespetto provide information
that may stimulate and guide conservation effdrés will remove or reduce threats to these
species and possibly make listing unnecessary.FetB Reg. at 70,104According to FWS, its
policy is to “strongly encourage collaborative conservation efforts for candidate species, and
offer technical and financial assistance to faatiditsuch efforts.ld. at 70,105 (emphasis added).

38. The candidate species classification benefits lamttlowners and candidate
species because it promotes the implementationlahtary conservation programs that not only

avoid “restrictive land use polices” associatedMigted species but also allow “greater
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management flexibility to stabilize or restore #agsandidate] species and their habitats .* . .”
The Service has recognized that, “[i]deally, suéiit threats can be removed to eliminate the
need for listing.”1d. Thus, over time, species which remain in the caatdidpecies
classification are given an important opportunatydcover sufficiently and, thereby, justify a
finding by FWS that the species are “not warranfed’listing as threatened or endangered.

39. FWS must act on candidate species in accordartbeavgriority system
mandated by Congress. In 1979, Congress amenddtSA, adding a new Section 4(h),
requiring FWS to adopt “agency guidelines to inghied the purposes of this section are
achieved efficiently and effectively,” including fanking system to assist in the identification of
species that should receive priority review fotiig.” See Pub. L. No. 96-159, 93 Stat. 1225,
1226 (1979). In 1982, Congress elaborated omthisdate, amending Section 4(b)(3)(B) to its
current form to require FWS to make one of thrdesgantive determinations for a species: (i)
the listing is “not warranted,” (ii) listing the spies is “warranted” in which case a listing rule
will be proposed, or (iii) the listing is warrantbdt precluded by higher priority pending
proposals.See ESA 8 4(b)(3)(B), 16 U.S.C. 8§ 1533(b)(3)(B).

40. At the time of the 1982 amendment, Congress reeegrhe Service’s limited
resources were insufficient to respond to the asireg numbers of petitions filed by advocacy
organizations demanding listing decisions for vasigpecies on the statutory schedule dictated
by the ESA. Congress accordingly determined tfidte listing agencies should utilize a

scientifically based priority system to list and delist species, subspeciepapdlations based

* U.S.FisH & WILDLIFE SERVICE, CANDIDATE SPECIES(2011),
http://www.fws.gov/endangered/esa-library/pdf/calade species.pdf (last visited Mar. 17,
2014).
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on the degree of threat, and proceed in an efti@ad timely manner.” H.R. Rep. No. 97-835
(1982) (Conf. Rep.yeprinted in 1982 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2860, 2862 (emphasis added).

41. The statute directs FWS to adopt a “ranking systeassist in the identification
of species that should receive priority review urfSA 84(a)(1)].” 16 U.S.C. § 1533(h)(3).
Under the policy adopted in 1983 to implement tatguirement, FWS assigns a priority for
action to each species on the candidate list.hAsService noted when it adopted this now
thirty-year-old policy, “it is necessary to assigmorities to listing, delisting, reclassificatioand
recovery actions in order to make the most appatpuse of the limited resources available to
implement the [ESA].” 48 Fed. Reg. 43,098 (Seft.1D83). FWS has explained that, in order
to assign priorities among candidate species, F@ViSiders, first, the magnitude of the threats to
each candidate species; second, the immediacedhthat; and third, the taxonomic status of
the speciesSee 78 Fed. Reg. 70,104, 70,105 (Nov. 22, 2013). dbtailed analysis generates a
listing priority number (“LPN”) ranging from 1 (higgst) to 12 (lowest). The “LPN ranking
system provides a basis for making decisions ath@utelative priority for preparing a proposed
rule to list a given speciesId.

42.  Since FWS adopted this science-driven priorityeysin 1983, the number of
species that have become the subject of listingiqgret, 90-day findings, and 12-month findings
has increased dramatically. By 2010, 251 specers wn the candidate species liS¢e 75 Fed.
Reg. 69,222 (Nov. 10, 2010). Since FWS enteremltint settlements described below, one of
the settling advocacy organizations has petitidnedisting of more than 400 additional species.

VOLUNTARY CONSERVATION MEASURES

43. The ESA acknowledges the value of voluntary coret@m measures, expressly
recognizing that “encouraging the States and atiterested parties, through . . . a system of

incentives, to develop and maintain conservati@g@ams” is “key” to “safeguarding” species.
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16 U.S.C. 8 1531(a)(5). To this end, FWS has eragmd “collaborative” efforts to implement
conservation measures and specifically adoptedieypendorsing use of “CCAAs between
FWS and states or private parties as a means é¢altgte or remove any need to list the covered
species.’"See 64 Fed. Reg. 32,726, 32,727 (June 17, 1999).

44. CCAAs are formal, voluntary agreements betweerFivS and non-federal
property owners designed to provide incentivesrplément conservation measures for
declining species. According to FWS,

By precluding or removing any need to list a spetigough early
conservation efforts, property owners can maintamd use and
development flexibility. In addition, initiating orexpanding
conservation efforts before a species and its &ahbite critically
imperiled increases the likelihood that simpler rencost-effective

conservation options will still be available andttitonservation
will ultimately be 